# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

JACK W. HARANG,

Appellant,

JUN 1 2 2009

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

CASE No. 2008-TS-01701

٧.

PAT M. BARRETT, JR.,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM CHANCERY COURT OF PEARL RIVER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

IN THE MATTER OF THE GUARDIANSHIP ESTATE OF DYLAN N. BAKER, A MINOR CHILD

CIVIL ACTION, FILE NO. 07-0073 PR-W

#### BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Jack W. Harang, Esq. # JACK W. HARANG, APLC 3500 North Hullen Street Metairie, LA 70002 Tel: (504) 456-8658

Fax: (504) 456-8641

Attorney appearing on behalf of Plaintiffs/Appellants

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the Trial Court erred in deciding that it did not have to recognize the existing Contingency Fee Contract in this matter and, as such, only equitable principals control the division of Attorney's Fees in this case.
- II. Whether the Trial Court erred in Pat M. Barrett Jr., ninety percent (90%) of the total amount of Attorney's fees recovered in this case and awarding Jack W. Harang ten percent (10%) recovered in this case and further refusing to recognize the Joint Venture Agreement between Pat M. Barrett, Jr., and Jack W. Harang.
- III. Whether the Trial Court erred in denying the Motion for Approval and Recognition of Attorney's Contingency Fee Contract filed by Jack W. Harang in this case.

٧

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises as a result of a suit initiated by the Maternal Grandparents, Brian Baker and Gina Baker of the minor child, Dylan N. Baker to recover for the wrongful death of his mother as a result of the negligence of the Norfolk Southern Railroad. On April 1, 2002 Brian Baker and Gina Baker executed a contingency fee contract with Jack W. Harang, an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Louisiana to pursue their claim on behalf of the minor child, Dylan N. Baker, as set forth above. Additionally, Mr. Harang, through his employees and/or agents compensated by him, interviewed witnesses and performed an investigation of the underlying facts surrounding the accident which formed the basis of the wrongful death suit against Norfolk Southern Railroad. In order to assist him with the representation in pursuit of this case, Mr. Harang, associated Mr. Barrett, an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Mississippi. Mr. Barrett did not however, enter into any contingency fee contract with the Bakers. On March 9, 2007, shortly before trial, the parties in the original claim, Brian Baker and Gina Baker on behalf of the minor child, Dylan N. Baker and Norfolk Southern Railroad agreed to settle the case. This settlement was approved by the Chancery Court by Order herein on August 30, 2007. On May 9, 2008 Pat M. Barrett, Jr., filed a Motion for Attorney's Fees and an opposition to that was timely filed by Jack W. Harang. On June 6, 2008, a motion was filed by Jack W. Harang for Approval and Recognition of Attorney's Contingency Fee Contract.

On May 21, 2008, the Honorable Johnny Williams conducted a hearing on the motion for Pat M. Barrett, Jr., for Attorney's fees and the motion filed by Jack W. Harang for Approval and Recognition of his Attorney's Contingency Fee Contract. On July 1, 2008, and Order was entered on Mr. Barrett's Motion for Attorney's Fees awarding Mr. Barrett ninety percent (90%)

of the total amount of the attorney's fees recovered in this case and awarding Mr. Harang ten percent (10%) of the attorney's fees recovered in this case. The Court further denied Mr. Harang's Motion for Approval and Recognition of his Attorney's Contingency Fee Contract. This Appeal followed.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 1, 2002, Brian Baker and Gina Baker executed a Contingency Fee Contract with Jack W. Harang, an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Louisiana to pursue their claim on behalf of the minor child, Dylan N. Baker to recover for the wrongful death of his mother as a result of the negligence of the Norfolk Southern Railroad. Immediately thereafter, witnesses were interviewed and an investigation was conducted on the underlying facts surrounding the accident which formed the basis of the wrongful death suit against Norfolk Southern Railroad. After several months and after it was determined that there was a basis to pursue a claim against Norfolk Southern Railroad, Mr. Harang associated Pat M. Barrett, Jr., an attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Mississippi. Mr. Barrett did not have a contingency fee contract with the Bakers and all work conducted by him was done so through his association with Mr. Harang pursuant to the Contingency Fee Contract executed by the Bakers with Mr. Harang. Thereafter, Mr. Harang's active participation in this case was interrupted as a result of his displacement by Hurricane Katrina.

#### ARGUMENT

The propriety of the trial court's entry of the order dated July 1, 2008, is at issue on this appeal. In reviewing such an order, this Court conducts a *de novo* review of the evidence in the record. *Townsend v. Estate of Gilbert*, 616 So. 2d 333,335 (Miss. 1993).

The trial court relied on *Sunnyland Contracting Company, Inc. v Davis*, 775 So. 2d 638 (Miss. 1954), when deciding that it did not have to recognize the existing contingency fee contract and as such, only equitable principals control the division of attorney's fees in this case, regardless of the terms of the contract and whether or not said contract adequately sets forth the representation in this matter.

I. Whether the trial court erred in deciding that it did not have to recognize the existing contingency fee contract in this matter and, as such only equitable principals control the division of attorney's fees. In relying on Sunnyland, supra, the trial court totally disregarded that the provisions of Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 1.5(c), which requires that all contingency fee contracts "shall be in writing and shall state the method to which the fee is to be determined".

There is no provision in the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct or Juris Prudence of the State which recognize an oral contingency fee contract between a client and an attorney. Yet, in refusing to recognize Mr. Harang's contract and awarding Pat Barrett, Jr., ninety (90%) of a forty percent (40%) contingency fee on the monies collected on behalf of the minor, Dylan N. Baker, the trial court has done just that.

Sunnyland, supra, is inapplicable to the facts of this case as the court in Sunnyland actually recognized the contingency fee contract but reduced the attorney's fee from fifty percent (50%) to thirty-three and one-third (33 1/3%) in a workman's compensation case. There is simply no support in Sunnyland for a court to completely disregard an attorney's contingency

fee contract which the client, the attorney, and associated attorneys have worked pursuant to for several years.

Mr. Harang introduced the expert opinion of Michael Martz who served as General Counsel for the Mississippi Bar from 1986-2004 in matters involving professional responsibility and attorney discipline. His opinion further supports that a requirement that contingency fee contracts in Mississippi must be in writing.

II. Whether the trial court erred in granting Pat M. Barrett, Jr., ninety (90%) of the total amount of attorney's fees recovered in this case and awarding Jack W. Harang ten (10%) of the attorney's fees recovered in this case and further refusing to recognize the Joint Venture Agreement between Pat M. Barrett, Jr., and Jack W. Harang.

In Mississippi, as in most other jurisdictions, peer referral fee agreements, in which one attorney obtains a client and sends a client to another lawyer, without performing any services and without assuming joint responsibility for the representation, are prohibited. As stated, in Mississippi, attorney's fees may be split between and among lawyers not in the same firm on one or two bases: a.) Services performed with the clients knowledge and consent; or, b.) joint responsibility within the written agreement from the client. The testimony submitted at trial supports the proposition that Mr. Harang and Mr. Barrett were joint venturers, with Mr. Harang's responsibility for trial and being responsible for the trying of the case, should such trial be necessary. This was in addition to the services rendered of investigating the case and questioning witnesses prior to any legal proceeding being filed.

Additionally, the assumption of joint responsibility basis (trial preparation and trial itself) does not require that the attorney be actively involved in providing legal services at every stage of the prosecution of the client's case. In addition, joint responsibility does not require that the

attorney participate in decision making process in the prosecution of the case. In addition, neither services performed, nor joint responsibility would preclude an equitable split of attorney's fees if the case did not control, if trial was ever contemplated.

III. Whether the trial court erred in denying the Motion for Approval and Recognition of Attorney's Contingency Fee Contract filed by Jack W. Harang in this case.

There is no dispute that on April 1, 2002 Brian Baker and Gina Baker executed a contingency fee contract with Jack W. Harang on behalf of the minor, Dylan N. Baker to pursue a claim against Norfolk Southern Railroad as the result of the death of Dylan N. Baker's mother. The original complaint filed in the Circuit Court of Pearl River County, Mississippi, on the wrongful death case was filed by both Mr. Barrett and Mr. Harang. As Mr. Barrett had no contractual relationship with the Bakers all actions taken by Mr. Barrett was pursuant that the authority that he was granted through the contract executed with Mr. Harang and to whom he had been associated. Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct is clear and unambiguous as it states:

Rule 1.5 (c) "A fee may be contingent upon the outcome of the matter for which the services rendered, except, in matter in which a contingent fee is prohibited by paragraph (b) or other law. A contingent fee agreement shall be in writing and shall state the method by which the fee is to be determined, including the percentage or percentages that occlude to the lawyer in the event of settlement, trial or appeal, litigation and other expenses to be deducted from the recovery, and whether such expenses are to be deducted before or after the contingent fee is calculated. Upon conclusion of a contingent fee matter, the lawyers shall provide the client with a written statement stating the outcome of the matter and, if there is a recovery, showing the remittance to the client and the method of its determination."

The refusal by the trial court to recognize the written contingency fee contract Jack W. Harang is contrary to the law and allows that Mr. Barrett to collect a contingent fee where he has

no written contract with the client nor is there a written contingent fee contract with counsel that associate him recognized by the court.

## **CONCLUSION**

Based on the facts and case law set out above it is clear that the trial court was in error in refusing to grant Mr. Harang's Motion for Approval and Recognition of an Attorney's Contingency Fee Contract and the trial court was further in error when it awarded Pat M. Barrett, Jr., the ninety percent (90%) of the total amount of attorney's fees recovered and awarded Jack W. Harang ten percent (10%) of the total amount of attorney's fees recovered.

Accordingly, Jack W. Harang respectfully states that this Court should reverse the trial court's order as prayed for herein.