IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

Clerk's Docket No. 2008-CP-01701

JACK W. HARANG, Appellant,

v. [

PAT M. BARRETT, JR., Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF PEARL RIVER COUNTY

IN THE MATTER OF THE GUARDIANSHIP ESTATE OF DYLAN N. BAKER, A MINOR CHILD

CIVIL ACTION, FILE NO. 07-0073-PR-W

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

Pat M. Barrett, Jr. (pro se, MS Bar # Barrett Law Office, P.A. 404 Court Square North P.O. Box 987 Lexington, MS 39095 Tel.: (662) 834-2376

Alfred H. Davidson IV (admitted *pro hac vice*, TN Bar # Barrett Law Office, P.A.
One Burton Hills Blvd. Suite 380
Nashville, TN 37215

Tel.: (615) 665-9990

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE PAT M. BARRETT, JR.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is an established principle in Mississippi that a chancery court in a matter concerning a minor need not rely on the terms of a contingency fee agreement to guide its apportionment of attorney's fees. Principles of equity, under such circumstances, solely control the matter of how the fees are to be determined and split among counsel. The chancery court, in awarding the bulk of the fees to Barrett for a vastly more significant contribution, clearly functioned within its discretion. Harang simply refuses to accept this core and controlling principle by which the chancery court abided. There is, further, no foundation for Harang's statement that the adoption

of such principles somehow is tantamount to the chancery court's imposing an oral contingency fee contract between Barrett and the client.

Harang unavailingly argues that Barrett and Harang had a joint responsibility status for representing the client which justifies a different fee allocation. Joint responsibility under M.R.P.C. 1.5(e)(1) was never effectuated because no agreement was jointly executed by the client (through the guardian or otherwise) and the different attorneys representing the client. Even if such status had been effectuated, the common law of this State is not trumped by a merely permissive rule under the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct.

ARGUMENT

A. Deficiencies of authority on the part of Harang abound.

Before addressing Harang's specifically enumerated issues, Barrett first underscores the serious point that Harang fails to cite to the Record in support of his arguments, thereby triggering a violation of M.R.A.P. 28(a)(6). In a previous filing with the Court, Barrett presented a *Motion to Dismiss* on three separate grounds, one of which was that Harang's appeal should be procedurally barred for such an infraction of the Court's rules. The Court will note that not a single Record citation appears in support of any issue in the Argument or, for that matter, in any other section of the Brief of the Appellant.

Another point meriting the Court's attention is the conspicuous weakness of the legal authority presented by Harang. The Table of Authorities constructed by Harang identifies only two case citations, both limited to page 4 of Harang's brief. See Brief of the Appellant at p. iv. As discussed *infra*, one of the cases is cited for the standard of review (and actually presents the incorrect standard) while the other case is merely raised for the purpose of Harang's assertion that the chancery court should not have relied upon it. The only other authority presented in the Table of Authorities is Rule 1.5(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct. See Brief

of the Appellant at p. 4. Harang also mentions the doctrine of "joint responsibility" but without any mention of that the fact that it is governed by M.R.P.C. 1.5(e)(1).

B. Standard of Review: Manifestly Wrong, Clearly Erroneous Standard

One of the two cases cited by Harang is *Townsend v. Estate of Gilbert*, 616 So.2d 333, 335 (Miss. 1993). *See* Brief of the Appellant at p. iv and p. 4. He cites *Townsend* for the limited purpose of stating that an order such as the one entered by the trial court should result in a "de novo review of the evidence in the record." Brief of the Appellant at p. 4 (emphasis original). It is somewhat difficult to fathom Harang's suggestion of a *de novo* review of the evidence in the record when, in fact, he has entirely failed to cite to the Record.

But more importantly, Harang has simply articulated the wrong standard of review. The correct standard of review is set forth as follows: "The Court employs a limited standard of review on appeals from chancery court.... The Court will not interfere with the findings of the chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or a wrong legal standard was applied." Reddell v. Reddell, 696 So.2d 287, 288 (Miss.1997)(emphasis added). As such, "[g]reat deference is given to the chancellor as both finder of fact and trier of law." Buford v. Logue, 832 So.2d 594, 600 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002). Harang bears a heavy burden in attempting to seek reversal of the ruling from the chancery court. Without any citations to the Record, and scant reliance on other authorities, Harang is not postured for such a reversal.

C. Harang's issues on appeal are unavailing.

Issue I:

Whether the trial court erred in deciding that it did not have to recognize the existing contingency fee contract in this matter and, as such only equitable principles control the division of attorney's fees. In relying on *Sunnyland*, supra, the trial court totally disregarded that the provisions of Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 1.5(c), which requires that all contingency fee contracts "shall be in writing and shall state the method to which the fee is determined."

As an initial matter, the second part of the statement of Issue I by Harang is not properly posed in the form of a question but rather is imposed as an argumentative comment. See Brief of the Appellant at p. 4 (relevant text in Brief of the Appellant is in bold). Harang therein blames the chancery court for having disregarded a provision of the Rules of Professional Conduct. See Brief of the Appellant at p. 4 ("the trial court totally disregarded" a provision under M.R.P.C. 1.5(c))(bold emphasis omitted). Such a comment does not present an issue for this Court's consideration, but rather simply levels an accusation – an inappropriate maneuver for framing an issue in an appellate brief.

It is also notable that within this second part of the description of Issue I Harang asserts that the chancery court "totally disregarded" M.R.P.C. 1.5(c) but never again references M.R.P.C. 1.5(c) in the argument underlying the presentation of the issue. *See* Brief of the Appellant at p. 4 (bold emphasis omitted).

Regarding the substance of Issue I, the essential point is that Harang is displeased that equitable principles were applied in chancery court (for the representation of the minor) to the exclusion of his contingency fee agreement with the minor's grandparents — which never referenced the minor or the subject accident. *See* Attorney Agreement (CP 106). The chancery court was required to adopt the use of equitable principles and had the discretion to do so outside the parameters of the purported contingency fee agreement. This power firmly reposes in the hands of the chancellor as articulated by this Court in *Sunnyland Contracting Co. v. Davis*, 75 So.2d 638 (Miss. 1954): "Where minors are involved, the courts must becessarily [sic] determine the fees; and any contract for fees does not bind the minors. We must, therefore, determine the amount of the fees on the basis of fairness to attorney and client." *Id.* at 639 (emphasis added). This quotation from *Sunnyland* is precisely on point as to the subject facts.

As long as equitable principles are maintained, therefore, the chancellor is generally free to accept the contract, in whole or part, or reject it.

Harang simply argues that *Sunnyland* is inapplicable because there the chancellor recognized the contract, but reduced the contingency fee percentage – a point that varies from the instant case where the chancery court did not recognize Harang's contract as operative. *See*Brief of the Appellant at p. 4. First, this factual distinction does not alter the controlling principle that a contract for attorney's fees "does not bind the minors" and must be determined "on the basis of fairness to attorney and client." *Sunnyland*, 75 So.2d 638 at 639. Second, an alteration of a contract is not necessarily dissimilar to, or inconsistent with, disregarding a contract and setting new terms. Both approaches could actually reach the same result. The result in *Sunnyland* is also consistent with other authorities. *See McKee v. McKee*, 418 So.2d 764 (Miss. 1982)(in a matter of equity, specifically domestic litigation, attorney's fees depended on various equitable issues, including the skill of the attorney, the time and labor involved, and the complexity of the litigation – among other factors); *Estate of Stewart*, 732 So.2d 255, 259 (Miss. 1999)(Mississippi applies *quantum meruit* principles in the awarding of attorney's fees).

Harang's argument fails for the separate reason that contingency fee agreement which he indicates should apply is not facially for the representation of the minor. That agreement is expressly for the representation of the Brian Baker and Gina Baker, not the minor, who is nowhere referenced in the agreement. *See* Attorney Agreement (CP 159).

Harang further attempts to undermine the chancery court's ruling by suggesting that Barrett and the client had an improper oral contingency fee contract that was imposed by the chancery court. See Brief of the Appellant at p. 4 ("There is no provision in the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct or Juris Prudence [sic] of the State which recognize an oral contingency fee contract between a client and an attorney. Yet, in refusing to recognize Mr.

Harang's contract ... the trial court has done just that."). This is a ludicrous contention by
Harang as there is no evidence in the Record (or anywhere) that an oral contingency agreement
was reached between the client/guardian and Barrett. Later in the brief, Harang essentially
admits that there could not have been an oral contingency fee contract: "As Mr. Barrett had no
contractual relationship with the Bakers all actions taken by Mr. Barrett was pursuant [sic] that
the authority that he was granted through the contract executed with Mr. Harang and to whom he
had been associated." Brief of the Appellant at p. 6 (emphasis added). If, as Harang maintains,
Barrett had no contractual relationship with the Bakers, then how could there have been an oral
contract? An oral contract would certainly amount to a contractual relationship.

Harang's supposition that an oral contingency fee was imposed by the court seems to rest on the point he noted that the chancery court awarded "ninety (90%) of a forty percent (40%) contingency fee on the monies collect on behalf of the minor...." Brief of the Appellant at p.4. The 40% figure did not arise from a contingency fee contract, whether oral or written, but rather from a petition by Barrett to the Chancery Court requesting 40% of the \$200,000 settlement dollar figure. See Petition for Authority to Distribute Settlement Funds.at pp. 1-2 (CP 36 – 37). Barrett stated that "[t]he total legal services rendered on behalf of the wrongful death beneficiaries justifies a gross attorney's fee of forty percent (40%) of the total amount of the settlement, or \$80,000, which is just and reasonable under the circumstances." Id. at p. 2 (CP 37). Barrett did not rely on any contract in his Petition as justification for the fee equal to 40% of the settlement. See id. (CP 36 – 40). A request for fees in the form of a percentage of the value of settlement does not perforce mean that a contingency fee contract (oral or written) is at issue.

Barrett submitted to the chancery court the expert affidavit of W.C. Trotter, III in support of his arguments for attorney's fees. See Affidavit of W.C. Trotter III (CP 216 – 223). Trotter

observed that "Mr. Barrett is not requesting attorneys fees on such contingent fee contract, but upon that of equity." *Id.* at p. 5 (CP 220). Trotter, incidentally, served on the Mississippi Bar's Ethics Committee for many years, including a four-year period when he presided as its chairman. Curriculum Vitae of W.C. Trotter, III at p. 2 (CP 213). Trotter also served as President of the Mississippi Bar in the period of 2001-2002. *Id.* (CP 213).

Ussue II:

Whether the trial court erred in granting Pat M. Barrett, Jr., ninety (90%) of the total amount of attorney's fees recovered in the this case and awarding Jack W. Harang ten (10%) of the attorney's fees recovered in this case and further refusing to recognize the Joint Venture Agreement between Pat M. Barett, Jr., and Jack W. Harang.

a.) Harang's request for relief is undefined.

In his depiction of Issue II, Harang is hardly clear as to the nature of his dispute regarding the split of attorney's fees, with 90% apportioned to Barrett and 10% to Harang. See Brief of the Appellant at pp. 5-6. It seems that he predicates his issue on the point that a "Joint Venture Agreement" between Barrett and Harang justifies a different split. Yet, under Issue II, Harang actually does not specifically state what manner of split (other than the 90-10 split favoring Barrett that was granted by the chancery court) he is seeking through the appeal. See Brief of the Appellant at pp. 5-6. Barrett surmises that Harang is seeking a 50-50 split of the fees, although this is far from clear. This lack of precision concerning requested relief presents a noncognizable and non-justiciable question for the Court to resolve. For this reason alone, the appeal should be denied.

b.) Harang relies on vague assertions and unsupported facts.

Barrett has been placed into a difficult position – with respect to his drafting of an appellee response brief – in rebutting putative facts that have not been specifically identified. This problem is compounded by the complete absence of Record citation in the Brief of the

Appellant. See Brief of the Appellant. For example, in the header for Issue II of the Argument within the Brief of the Appellant, Harang mentions a "Joint Venture Agreement between Pat M. Barrett, Jr. and Jack W. Harang." Brief of the Appellant at p. 5. Then, nowhere in the argument provided for Issue II does Harang mention the term "Joint Venture Agreement" or otherwise reference such an agreement. See Brief of the Appellant at pp. 5-6. Given the dearth of textual description, and the complete absence of citation to the Record, it is unclear what agreement Harang is even referencing.

Is Harang referencing a joint responsibility agreement as contemplated by M.R.P.C. 1.5(e)(1)? Or is he referencing an agreement that is a joint venture in the commercial sense of the term of art? Neither Barrett nor the Court should be put in the position of having to chase phantom agreements and venture a guess as to what Harang is actually referencing. Harang's refusal to provide detail (whether through absence of Record citation or otherwise) in the Brief of the Appellant impedes Barrett's ability to respond to specific contentions.

c.) Harang's argument must fail given the demonstrable absence of joint responsibility.

Harang's reliance on joint responsibility is unavailing because joint responsibility was demonstrably never effectuated. Of dispositive consequence, the client (through his guardian or otherwise) and Barrett never executed the same agreement – a critical point fatal to joint responsibility. All of the attorneys representing the client must execute the same document signed by the client before joint responsibility takes effect. M.R.P.C. 1.5(e)(1). Specifically, M.R.P.C. 1.5(e)(1) allows a division of attorney's fees where, "by written agreement with the client, each lawyer assumes joint responsibility for the representation."

These elements specified under M.R.P.C. 1.5(e)(1) were not satisfied with respect to the case at bar as evidenced by Harang's own admission, which is memorialized in the Brief of the

Appellant. The following statement by Harang, though disjointed and in need of editing, makes this point clear: "The refusal by the trial court to recognize the written contingency fee contract Jack W. Harang is contrary to the law and allows that Mr. Barrett to collect a contingent fee where he has no written contract with the client nor is there a written contingent fee contract with counsel that associate him recognized by the court." Brief of the Appellant at pp. 6-7 (emphasis added). Where, as here, there is no written agreement between Barrett and the client, there can be no joint responsibility.

Even if the elements of joint responsibility were satisfied, the authority under M.R.P.C. 1.5(e) regarding a split of fees would not be controlling and certainly would be insufficient to counteract the authority under *Sunnyland* discussed *supra*. This is true, in part, because M.R.P.C. 1.5(e) is a permissive rule rather than one which is obligatory: "A division of fee between lawyers who are not in the same firm <u>may be made</u> only if ... by written agreement with the client, each lawyer assumes joint responsibility for the representation...." Emphasis added. The word "may" indicates that this is a permissive rule. The Scope section of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct makes this distinction clear: "Some of the Rules are imperatives, cast in the terms 'shall' or 'shall not'.... Others, generally cast in the term 'may,' are permissive and define areas under the Rules in which the lawyer has professional discretion." M.R.P.C. (Scope).

Further, the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct cannot trump *Sunnyland* because said Rules are subordinate to the law. "The Rules of Professional Conduct are rules of reason.

They should be interpreted with reference to the purposes of legal representation and of the law itself." M.R.P.C. (Scope).

Harang suggested that his burden under the putative joint venture was to try the case should it go to trial. See Brief of the Appellant at p. 5 ("The testimony submitted at trial supports

the proposition that Mr. Harang and Mr. Barrett were joint venturers, with Mr. Harang's responsibility for trial and being responsible for the trying of the case, should such trial be necessary."). There is no record citation for this statement. *See* Brief of the Appellant at p. 5. Barrett maintains that no agreement was ever reached making Harang principally responsible for trial.

d.) Harang failed to present a prima facie case of joint responsibility in the chancery court and has thus waived the viability of the argument.

In the chancery court, Harang failed to present a *prima facie* case of joint responsibility between the attorneys. He failed to do so even when challenged by Barrett to set forth and prove the elements of joint responsibility under the subject facts. Barrett will demonstrate below the sequence of relevant omissions by Harang in the chancery court. Barrett maintains that in failing to present a basic case of joint responsibility in the earlier proceeding, Harang has waived his right to challenge (by way of appeal) the chancery court's decision to rely on equitable principles and impliedly not accept a joint responsibility standard for the determination of attorney's fees. Harang did not offer a sufficient justification for joint responsibility in order for the chancery court to declare that joint responsibility was indeed effectuated. Going forward, Harang cannot offer such a justification because key contentions cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *See Bates v. State*, 952 So.2d 320, 324 (¶ 13) (Miss.Ct.App. 2007)("We do not consider matters on appeal that were not placed first before the trial judge for decision.")(citing *Duplantis v. State*, 708 So.2d 1327, 1339-1340 (¶ 49) (Miss. 1998)).

In a motion for attorney's fees and a post-trial brief filed contemporaneously, including an expert affidavit attached to the latter, Harang nowhere laid out the elements of joint responsibility as defined under M.R.P.C. 1.5(e)(1). See Motion by Jack W. Harang for Approval and Recognition of Attorney's Contingency Fee Contract (CP 160 – 164); Post Trial

Memorandum of Jack W. Harang (CP 165 – 182). In his combined response to these two submissions by Harang, Barrett stated that there was "no evidence in this dispute that the requirements of joint responsibility have been satisfied.... Specifically, the attorneys in question never jointly entered into a written agreement with the client for joint responsibility as defined under M.R.P.C. 1.5." Combined Response to (1) the Motion by Jack W. Harang for Approval and Recognition of Attorney's Contingency Fee Contract and (2) the Post-Trial Memorandum of Jack W. Harang at p. 6 (CP 206). Thereafter, the chancery court effectively found that joint responsibility did not apply, determining that "only equitable principles control the division of attorney's fees in this case, regardless of the terms of the contract and whether or not said contract adequately sets forth the representation in this matter." Order of the Chancery Court of Pearl River County, dated July 1, 2008, at p. 3 (CP 228).

After the chancery court's ruling, Harang moved the court for a new trial and/or reconsideration. Motion for New Trial and/or Reconsideration of Order Dated July 1, 2008 (CP 233). In his memorandum in support thereof, Harang did not, in the slightest, address what had been unaddressed before by Harang and challenged by Barrett: whether the elements of joint responsibility had been satisfied. *See* Memorandum In Support of Motion for New Trial and/or Reconsideration of Order Dated July 1, 2008 (CP 241 – 244). Given this failure by Harang to address a critical point, Barrett in his response to the motion for reconsideration and/or new trial firmly brought up Harang's deficiency in this regard: "Harang fails to identify the elements necessary for constituting a joint responsibility agreement. As such, he has failed to take even preliminary steps in establishing a *prima facie* case that such an agreement was ever consummated." Attorney Pat Barrett, Jr.'s Response to Attorney Jack W. Harang's Motion for New Trial and/or Reconsideration of Order Dated July 1, 2008 at p. 4 (CP 251). *See also id.* (CP 251) ("Barrett further submits that while the conclusory nature of Harang's assertion of joint

responsibility status was previously raised as an issue with the Court, Harang nonetheless continues to avoid substantiating the existence of such status."). The fact that that a *prima facie* case of joint responsibility was at issue in the chancery court makes it all the more problematic that Harang submitted an opening brief in this appeal entirely without citation to the Record.

<u>Issue III:</u> Whether the trial court erred in denying the Motion for Approval and Recognition of Attorney's Contingency Fee Contract filed by Jack W. Harang in this case.

Issue III seems to be redundant as it is subsumed under Issue I; both issues concern, in part, the fact that chancery court refused to recognize Harang's contract with the minor's grandparents. *See* Brief of the Appellant at pp. 4-6. In response to this redundancy, Barrett is required to recapitulate what is stated above: A court is not bound to accept a contingency fee contract associated with the representation of a minor. "Where minors are involved, the courts must becessarily [sic] determine the fees; and any contract for fees does not bind the minors. We must, therefore, determine the amount of the fees on the basis of fairness to attorney and client." *Sunnyland*, 75 So.2d at 639 (emphasis added). In view of this wide discretion afforded the chancery court, Harang has not identified why or how the chancery court is in error.

Harang indicates that all of Barrett's authority flowed through Harang's contingency fee contract with the minor's grandparents and that therefore the Court erred in not recognizing his contingency fee agreement. Brief of the Appellant at pp. 6-7. A requirement that the chancery court must recognize the contingency fee agreement would improperly trump the authority in *Sunnyland* that a court is not bound by such an agreement with regard to the determination of attorney's fees. It would also undermine the equitable character of a chancery court. Harang is effectively asking this Court to revisit and revise *Sunnyland*. There is no basis for such a revision.

And from whence Barrett obtained his authority does not alter the primacy of equitable rules in apportioning attorney's fees in a matter involving a minor. As an attorney of record in a case before the chancery court, Harang voluntarily subjected himself to principles inherent to a court of equity, here the Chancery Court of Pearl River County, Mississippi. See RAS Family Partners, LP v. Onnam Biloxi, LLC, 968 So.2d 926, 928 (Miss. 2007)(Generally speaking ... chancery courts are courts of equity)(citing Miss. Const. art. 6, § 156)).

Lastly, Barrett wishes to highlight a misstatement in Harang's brief. He asserted that "[t]here is no dispute that on April 1, 2002 Brian Baker and Gina Baker executed a contingency fee contract with Jack W. Harang on behalf of the minor, Dylan N. Baker to pursue a claim against Norfolk Southern Railroad as the result of the death of Dylan N. Baker's mother." Brief of the Appellant at p. 6 (emphasis added). Contrary to this assertion, there was a dispute as to whether this contract was on behalf of the minor. *See* Combined Response to (1) the Motion by Jack W. Harang for Approval and Recognition of Attorney's Contingency Fee Contract and (2) the Post-Trial Memorandum of Jack W. Harang at pp. 4-6 (CP 204 - 206)(Barrett noted that the contract did not address the minor, Dylan N. Baker). The point noted by Barrett (no reference to the minor) can be verified by viewing the contract itself. *See* Attorney Agreement (CP 106).

Even putting aside the primacy of equitable principles, *arguendo*, Harang can find no error in the chancery court's refusal to recognize the contingency fee contract because the contingency fee agreement is inapplicable to the subject representation. Specifically, the contingency fee contract lacks a nexus to the minor. It is imprinted on a boilerplate form, does not mention the minor by name or other reference, fails to mentions – for that matter – that any third party is the subject of representation, and does not identify the specific accident. *See* Attorney Agreement (CP 159). The first paragraph of the Attorney Agreement references "my claim" for "my accident," while the only client signatures are those of Brian Baker and Gina

Baker. See id. (CP 159). Looking at the agreement, without knowing more, one could only conclude that Brian Baker and Gina Baker enlisted attorneys for their own personal injury. The minor is nowhere referenced, whether directly or indirectly. See id. (CP 159).

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